
 

 

 

Rescheduled Regular Meeting of the  

Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Agenda - Tuesday, September 05, 2023 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Invocation given by Director Hollibush 

Pledge of Allegiance led by City Clerk Heather Soyars 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

A limit of five (5) minutes per person is allotted for citizens to express their concerns to the 

Board of Directors, with a maximum of fifty (50) minutes reserved for Citizens 

Communication.   

Please fill out a Citizen Communication Card with your name and contact information for the 

City Clerk's records. 

PRESENTATION(S) 

1. Lifesaving award presented to Devin Bruce. (BOD)  

2. Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service Awards. (ADMIN)  

CONSENT 

3. Approval of the minutes of the special called meeting August 21, 2023, and the regular 

meeting August 21, 2023. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

4. Adopt a Resolution approving the reimbursement of $205,221.85 to the Texarkana Regional 

Airport from American Rescue Act Funds. (FIN) Acting City Manager/Finance Director 

TyRhonda Henderson 

5. Adopt a Resolution to abolish Resolution No. 6254, regarding the Board of Directors travel 

allowances. (FIN) Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson 

6. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a construction contract 

with Francis Excavating, LLC., for the County Avenue Rehabilitation Project. (PWD) Public 

Works Director Tyler Richards 



 

7. Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to extend the existing Refuse 

Collection Contracts with Richardson Waste II, Inc., and Edmondson’s Trash Service for the 

City of Texarkana, Arkansas. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards  

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

NEXT MEETING DATE: Monday, September 18, 2023 

ADJOURN 

 

2023 City Calendar 

Gateway Farmers Market - Open Tuesdays, Thursdays, Saturdays - 7AM- Noon 

Gateway Farmers Market Fall Tailgates & Tables - Saturday, September 16th - 8AM - 2PM 

National Night Out - Tuesday, October 3rd 

Universal Vibe - Saturday, November 4th - 10AM - 10PM 

Gateway Farmers Market Holiday Market - Saturday, November 18th - 10AM - 2PM 

Founders’ Week Celebration – December 4th – 10th 

 

Texarkana Rec Center Calendar 

Ageless Grace - Mondays – 2PM – 3PM 

Gym Open - Mondays, Wednesdays & Fridays – 8AM - 7PM & Saturdays - 8AM – Noon 

Dance Fitness - Tuesdays - 6PM & Saturdays - 11AM 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Presentation of the City of Texarkana, Arkansas Employee Service 

Awards. (ADMIN)  

AGENDA DATE: September 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Presentation 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Presentation of employee service awards. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: 

 

 

 

 

Employee Service Awards: 

 

Robert Oakes PWD 5 Years 
 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

N/A 

EXHIBITS: None 

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Approval of the minutes of the special called meeting August 21, 2023, 

and the regular meeting August 21, 2023. (CCD) City Clerk Heather 

Soyars 

AGENDA DATE: September 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☐  Other☒: Minutes 

DEPARTMENT: City Clerk Department 

PREPARED BY: Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

REQUEST: Approval of meeting minutes. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Approval of meeting minutes 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: N/A 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: N/A 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

N/A 

EXHIBITS: Meeting minutes. 

 



 

 

 

Special Called Meeting of the  

Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, August 21, 2023 - 5:00 PM 

 

 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order at 5:00 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, Ward 5 Director Danny 

Jewel, and Ward 6 Director Jeff Hart. 

ABSENT: Assistant Mayor Ward 1 Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney Harris, Ward 4 Director 

Ulysses Brewer. 

ALSO, PRESENT: City Clerk Heather Soyars. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The Board of Directors entered Executive Session at 5:00 PM to interview a candidate for the city 

manager position. 

The Mayor Reconvened the meeting at 5:41 PM, and no action was taken. 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Director Hart, Seconded by Director Hollibush. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Director Hollibush, Director Jewel and Director Hart. 

The motion carried 4-0 and the meeting adjourned at 5:43 PM. 

APPROVED this the 5th day of September 2023. 

 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

____________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

 



 

 

 

Regular Meeting of the Board of Directors 
City of Texarkana, Arkansas 

216 Walnut Street 

Minutes - Monday, August 21, 2023 - 6:00 PM 

 

 

Mayor Allen Brown called the meeting to order at 6:00 PM. 

PRESENT: Mayor Allen Brown, Assistant Mayor Ward 1 Terry Roberts, Ward 2 Director Laney 

Harris, Ward 3 Director Steven Hollibush, Ward 5 Danny Jewell, and Ward 6 Director Jeff Hart.  

ALSO, PRESENT: Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson, City Attorney 

Joshua Potter, City Clerk Heather Soyars, and Deputy City Clerk Jenny Narens.  

ABSENT: Ward 4 Director Ulysses Brewer 

Invocation given by Director Hollibush. 

Pledge of Allegiance led by Bi-State Building Manager Kristine Barron. 

CITIZEN COMMUNICATION 

Amanda Moore, 4806 Markwood Drive, voiced her concerns regarding the Water Park.  

Mary McQueen, 708 Pinehurst Street, spoke about the overgrowth of trees and the dogs roaming 

near her house.  

Billy Willis, 1020 Orleans Street, wanted to know why there was no improvement to Nix Creek in 

Ward 2, and asked about getting sidewalks and the streets cleaned up in his ward.    

CONSENT 

Director Hart made the motion to adopt the Consent agenda, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Roberts.  The motion carried and the following items were approved:  

1. Approval of the minutes of the special called meeting August 7, 2023, and the regular meeting 

August 7, 2023. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

2. Resolution No. 2023-70 to reschedule Board of Directors meetings in 2024 that conflict with 

certain holidays. (CCD) City Clerk Heather Soyars 

REGULAR 

3. Consider the following action concerning the clean-up of five (5) nuisance properties: 



 

Conduct a Public Hearing to receive comments regarding certification of certain delinquent 

taxes.  

Mayor Brown opened the Public Hearing.  

Public Works Director Tyler Richards gave a brief description of the properties. 

Director Harris asked when a citizen went to pay taxes, would they have to pay the lien before 

paying taxes. 

Public Works Director Tyler Richards said yes.  

No one else came forward. 

Mayor Brown closed the Public Hearing. 

Resolution No. 2023-71 certified the amount to be put on the tax books as delinquent and 

collect accordingly. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Director Hollibush. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

4. Consider the following action concerning substandard structures: 

Conduct a Public Hearing regarding the demolition of two (2) substandard structures. 

Mayor Brown opened the Public Hearing.  

Public Works Director Tyler Richards gave a brief description of the structures.  

Director Harris said he was approached by a citizen who remodeled the house across the street 

from these house and wanted to know how much time he had to obtain the two houses.   

Public Works Director Tyler Richards said once the resolution was passed, he would send out 

another letter stating the property owner had thirty (30) days to purchase either a building or 

demolition permit.  He said if no permit had been issued then he would start to take bids for a 

demolition crew to tear the houses down. Public Works Director Tyler Richards said he would 

work with any person who wanted to rebuild the houses instead of tearing them down.  He said if 

someone received a permit for the house, they had thirty (30) days to start work, or he would move 

forward with the demolition.   

No one else came forward. 

Mayor Brown closed the Public Hearing. 

Resolution No. 2023-72 condemned two (2) substandard structures for demolition. (PWD) 

Public Works Director Tyler Richards 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Director Hollibush. 



 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

5. Resolution No. 2023-73 authorized the Director of the Parks and Recreation Department to 

apply for an Outdoor Recreation Matching Grant from the Arkansas Department of Parks, 

Heritage, and Tourism in the amount of $250,000.00 to construct an all-inclusive playground 

at the Texarkana Arkansas Recreation Center. (PARKS) Parks and Recreation Director Adam 

Dalby. 

Pete Cheatham asked what ward the grant funding would be used in and why no fundings were 

being used for parks in his ward.  

Parks and Recreation Director Adam Dalby said the grant funds would be used for a playground 

at the Rec Center in Ward 2. 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

6. Resolution No. 2023-74 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into a contract to 

purchase Union Elementary School as additional space for the Texarkana, Arkansas Police 

Department. (TAPD) Police Chief Michael Kramm 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, and 

Director Hart.  

Voting Nay: Director Jewell. 

The motion carried 5-1 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

 

7. Ordinance No. 29-2023 authorized Central Records & Communication (CRC) to provide 

record entry and limited record maintenance for small Texas Police Departments for a fee. 

(CRC) CRC Manager Wendy Herring  

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Director Hart.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 



 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, and 

Director Hart.  

Voting Nay: Director Jewell. 

The motion carried 5-1 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, and 

Director Hart.    

Voting Nay: Director Jewell. 

The motion carried 5-1 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, and 

Director Hart.    

Voting Nay: Director Jewell.  

The motion carried 5-1 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, and 

Director Hart. 

Voting Nay: Director Jewell.      

The motion carried 5-1 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause enacted. 

 

8. Ordinance No. 30-2023 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into a lease-purchase 

agreement for three (3) Toyota Tacoma trucks for the Texarkana, Arkansas Police 

Department. (TAPD) Assistant Police Chief Bobby Jordan  



 

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Director Hart, Seconded by Director Hollibush.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Director Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.    

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.    

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart. 

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause enacted. 

 

9. Ordinance No. 31-2023 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into a Construction 

Contract with Hightech Signs the Front Street Stage Sign. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler 

Richards 



 

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Assistant Mayor Roberts, Seconded by Director Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Assistant Mayor Roberts, Seconded by Director Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.    

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Hollibush, Director Jewell, and 

Director Hart.    

Voting Nay: Director Harris 

The motion carried 5-1 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

The applicant requests an emergency clause. An emergency clause requires a separate and 

distinct vote of the board and is valid only if there is a two-thirds vote of approval by the 

board. (Hdbk. Const. Amend 7) 

Motion to enact the emergency clause made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor 

Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against the emergency clause. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Hollibush, Director Jewell, and 

Director Hart. 

Voting Nay: Director Harris 

The motion carried 5-1 and the Mayor declared the emergency clause enacted. 

 



 

10. TABLED - Ordinance to amend the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, Code of Ordinances to 

include an alcohol beverage permit for hotels/motels and restaurants. (FIN) Acting City 

Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson  

After a brief discussion, the motion to table the ordinance made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Director Jewell.  

Voting Yay: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Jewell, and Director Hart.  

Voting Nay: Director Harris and Director Hollibush.  

The motion carried 4-2 and the Mayor declared the ordinance tabled.  

11. Ordinance No. 32-2023 authorized the Acting City Manager to accept the amendment of the 

City’s 401(a) retirement plans with Mission Square (formerly ICMA) for noncivil service 

employees. (FIN) Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson   

After a brief discussion, the motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its first reading 

in abbreviated form made by Director Hart, Seconded by Director Hollibush.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the first time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its second reading in abbreviated form 

made by Assistant Mayor Roberts, Seconded by Director Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the second time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to suspend the rules and place the ordinance on its third and final reading in abbreviated 

form made by Director Hollibush, Seconded by Director Hart. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.    

The motion carried 6-0 and the ordinance was read the third time in abbreviated form. 

Motion to adopt the ordinance made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Mayor Brown asked if anyone would like to speak for or against this ordinance. 

No one came forward. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Hollibush, Director Jewell, and 

Director Hart.    

Voting Nay: Director Harris 

The motion carried 5-1 and the Mayor declared the ordinance adopted. 

 

12. Resolution No. 2023-75 authorized the Acting City Manager to enter into contracts with 

Crossties and Big Ass Touring, Inc., regarding the performance of Priscilla Block at the Front 

Street Festival Plaza. (ADMIN) Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson 



 

After a brief discussion, the motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by 

Assistant Mayor Roberts. 

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS' COMMENTARY 

No one came forward. 

EXECUTIVE SESSION 

The Board of Directors stated they did not need to go into executive session to discuss this item.  

13. Resolution No. 2023-76 appointed Randy Henry to the Historic District (CCD) City Clerk 

Heather Soyars 

Motion to adopt the resolution made by Director Hart, Seconded by Director Hollibush.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the Mayor declared the resolution adopted. 

NEXT MEETING DATE: Tuesday, September 5, 2023 

ADJOURN 

Motion to adjourn made by Director Hart, Seconded by Assistant mayor Roberts.  

Voting Yea: Mayor Brown, Assistant Mayor Roberts, Director Harris, Director Hollibush, Director 

Jewell, and Director Hart.  

The motion carried 6-0 and the meeting adjourned at 7:54 PM.  

APPROVED this the 5th day of September 2023. 

 

____________________________ 

Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

____________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk 

 

 

 



 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution approving the reimbursement of $205,221.85 to the 

Texarkana Regional Airport from American Rescue Act Funds. (FIN) 
Acting City Manager/Finance Director TyRhonda Henderson 

AGENDA DATE: September 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department 

PREPARED BY: TyRhonda Henderson, Acting City Manager/Finance Director  

REQUEST: N/A 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: The American Rescue Act Fund was approved by the City of Texarkana, 

Arkansas Board of Directors on December 20, 2021, with Resolution 

No. 2021-65. This budget allocated $972,090 in 2021 and the remaining 

$656,637 in 2022. Of the total $1,628,727, $374,445.33 has been spent. 

The purpose of this agenda item is to approve the reimbursement of 

$205,221.85 to the Texarkana Regional Airport for construction in 

connection with the Terminal Parking Lot. As this would be considered 

a general governmental service, it is eligible for reimbursement due to 

the City receiving less than $10 million from the American Rescue Plan 

Act.     

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $205,221.85 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $205,221.85 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and invoice 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, allocated American Rescue Plan Act (ARPA) Funds remain available 

for use in accordance with applicable law and restriction; and 

 WHEREAS, of the total ARPA funds allocated, $1,628.727.00, the total spent to 

date is $374,445.33; and  

 WHEREAS, an eligible use of a portion of such funds is to reimburse the 

Texarkana Regional Airport for $205,221.85 incurred in connection with the Terminal 

Parking Lot construction; and  

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval;  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the reimbursement described herein is approved and, further, 

all applicable City budgets are appropriately amended.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of September, 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

             Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 













 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution to abolish Resolution No. 6254, regarding the Board 

of Directors travel allowances. (FIN) Acting City Manager/Finance 

Director TyRhonda Henderson 

AGENDA DATE: September 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Finance Department 

PREPARED BY: TyRhonda Henderson, Acting City Manager/Finance Director  

REQUEST: N/A 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: The purpose of this resolution is to abolish Resolution No. 6254, which 

set the travel limit for each board member at $1,200 per year.  

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0 

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend approval 

EXHIBITS: Resolution and Resolution No. 6254 

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, desires to address travel allowances 

and expenses for each board member in the yearly budget; and 

 WHEREAS, Resolution No. 6254, passed and approved March 2, 2015, set limits 

on director’s travel for the year at $1,200 per director; and  

 WHEREAS, Board member travel may require expenditures and expenses in 

excess of $1,200; and  

WHEREAS, Resolution No. 6254, must be repealed in order to allow the City to 

provide travel expenditures in excess of $1,200; and  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that Resolution No. 6254, passed and approved March 2, 2015, is 

hereby repealed.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of September 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

           Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 

 





 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to enter into a 

construction contract with Francis Excavating, LLC., for the County 

Avenue Rehabilitation Project. (PWD) Public Works Director Tyler 

Richards 

AGENDA DATE: September 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PREPARED BY: Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

REQUEST: Enter into a construction contract with Francis Excavating, LLC., for the 

County Avenue Rehabilitation Project. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Award the construction contract to Francis Excavating, LLC., in the 

amount of five hundred twenty-seven thousand, one hundred forty-two 

dollars and ninety cents ($527,142.90) for the County Avenue 

Rehabilitation. 

On Thursday, August 17, 2023, a bid opening was conducted at City Hall 

for the referenced project. Two qualified bids were received that met the 

bidding requirements. A.L. Franks Engineering, Inc., reviewed the bids 

and found no errors in the submission. The low bid by Francis 

Excavating, LLC., was accepted by the Public Works Director to be 

submitted to the Board of Directors for approval.  

Francis Excavating, LLC., is licensed in the State of Arkansas and 

located in Nash, Texas. Francis Excavating, LLC., is very experienced 

and capable to complete the project.  

Award of this contract to Francis Excavating, LLC., meets all bidding 

requirements. Funds were budgeted and are available for the award of 

this contract. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $527,142.90  

AMOUNT BUDGETED: $600,000.00 ($452,560.00 County Avenue line Item and $147,440.00 

from project underruns on both Freedom/Calhoun Trail and South 

Valley Road.) 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 



RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, Bid Recommendation, Bid Sign-In Sheet, and Francis 

Excavating, LLC., Bid. 

 

 

  

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, after advertisement, bids were submitted by Francis Excavating, 

LLC., and Tatum Excavating Company, Inc., for the County Avenue Rehabilitation Project; 

and 

 WHEREAS, A.L. Franks Engineering, Inc., reviewed the bids and found no errors 

in their submissions; and  

 WHEREAS, Francis Excavating, LLC., was the low bidder for the project in the 

amount of $527,142.90; and  

 WHEREAS, funds are budgeted and available; and 

 WHEREAS, the Acting City Manager and staff recommend Board approval; 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Acting City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a 

construction contract with Francis Excavating, LLC., for the for the County Avenue 

Rehabilitation Project in the amount set forth above.   

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of Setpember 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

           Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 













































 

CITY OF TEXARKANA, AR 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

AGENDA TITLE: Adopt a Resolution authorizing the Acting City Manager to extend the 

existing Refuse Collection Contracts with Richardson Waste II, Inc., and 

Edmondson’s Trash Service for the City of Texarkana, Arkansas. 

(PWD) Public Works Director Tyler Richards  

AGENDA DATE: September 5, 2023 

ITEM TYPE: Ordinance☐  Resolution☒  Other☐:  

DEPARTMENT: Public Works Department 

PREPARED BY: Tracie Lee, Assistant Public Works Director 

REQUEST: To extend the existing Refuse Collection Contracts with Richardson 

Waste II, Inc., and Edmondson’s Trash Service for the City of 

Texarkana, Arkansas. 

EMERGENCY CLAUSE: N/A 

SUMMARY: Extending existing contracts with Richardson Waste II, Inc., and 

Edmondson’s Trash Service. 

The terms of the contract will be for five years effective October 1, 2023, 

through September 30, 2028. Both residential and yard waste will 

continue to be collected as in the past.  Regular residential garbage shall 

be collected a minimum of two (2) times per week, with collections on 

either Monday and Thursday or Tuesday and Friday. Yard waste shall 

be collected one time per week on Wednesday.   

The monthly base service charge shall remain the same at $13.00.  A rate 

increase will not be considered as the hauler rate was increased in 2022 

by $2.00 and by $0.38 in 2023.  The City’s solid waste ordinance was 

also amended to include an annual CPI increase that shall not exceed 

three (3) percent.  If the CPI is lower than three (3) percent in any given 

year the increase shall be at the lower rate. If the CPI is higher than three 

(3) percent in any given year the increase shall be three (3) percent.  

One public meeting was held on August 17, 2023, with the Solid Waste 

Committee, comprised of Mayor Allen Brown, Assistant Mayor Terry 

Roberts and Director Jeff Hart to review and discuss refuse collection 

contracts.  At the recommendation of the committee the contracts are 

being submitted to the Board of Directors for approval to extend the 

existing refuse collection contracts. 

EXPENSE REQUIRED: $0.00 



AMOUNT BUDGETED: $0.00 

APPROPRIATION 

REQUIRED: 

$0.00 

RECOMMENDED 

ACTION: 

Acting City Manager and staff recommend board approval. 

EXHIBITS: Resolution, Original Contract Extension (Resolution No. 2016-50), 

Hauler Increase & CPI Annual Increase (Resolution No. 2021-62), Solid 

Waste Ordnance Amendment (Ordinance No. 36-2022), and Draft 

Letters to Richardson Waste II, Inc., and Edmondson Trash service. 

 

 

  

 



RESOLUTION NO. _________ 

WHEREAS, the existing Refuse Collection Contracts with Richardson Waste II, 

Inc., and Edmonson’s Trash Service are all set to expire on September 30, 2023; and 

 WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Management Committee met on August 17, 2023, 

and recommended that said contracts be extended for an additional five years (beginning 

October 1, 2023, and ending September 30, 2028); and  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, by the Board of Directors of the City 

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the Acting City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to 

offer to each of Richardson Waste II, Inc., and Edmonson’s Trash Service a five year 

extension of their respective Refuse Collection contracts; provided, however, that in order 

for such extension to be binding, the hauler must sign and return, without modification or 

counteroffer, the written offer of extension provided by the Acting City Manager on or 

before September 29, 2023; otherwise, any non-extended contract will expire by its terms. 

 PASSED AND APPROVED this 5th day of September 2023.   

 

       ______________________________ 

            Allen L. Brown, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Heather Soyars, City Clerk  

 

 

APPROVED: 

 

 

_________________________________ 

Joshua L. Potter, City Attorney 



RESOLUTION NO. is; \ol

WHEREAS, one or more of the current contractors currently under contract with

the City to provide residential waste removal and hauling services (all of such service

providers, whether or not having recently requested an increase, are hereinafter the

have requested service rate increases; and

WHEREAS, the current contracts with each of the Hauling Contractors are set to 

expire in September, 2023, unless terminated sooner pursuant to the terms thereof; and

WHEREAS, upon consideration by the Solid Waste Committee, it is 

recommended that:

1. Commencing January 1, 2022, the current residential waste collection and

removal rate paid to the Hauling Contractors be increased as follows by an

additional Two Dollars ($2.00) per residential unit;

With or without request by any Hauling Contractor, commencing January 1,

2023, for each such hauling contract existing and in effect as of the date of 

passage of this Resolution and remaining in effect as of January 1, 2023, the 

residential rate paid to the Hauling Contractor thereafter and thereunder be

increased, by a percentage equal to the lesser of (i) three percent (3.00%), or,

(ii) the percentage change in the Consumer Price Index statistics published by
the United States Bureau of Labor, using the index entitled Price

Index - All Items and Major Group Figures for all Urban Consumers (CPI-U)
South Region (1982-84 = (or the nearest comparable data on changes in

the cost of living if such index is no longer published) with the change under

this option numbered 2. being determined by comparison of the CPI

for J anuary 1, 2022, With that of January 1, 2023;

Provided that, in no event shall the increase contemplated by option numbered

2. immediately above have any effect or force unless and until allocation 0r

appropriation of funds by the Board of Directors in an amount and

adequate to reasonably pay the estimated expense of such 2023 increase through
the end of the then existing term of such hauling contract, either by approval of

the FY 2023 budget or by separate appropriation;

WHEREAS, the City Manager and staff recommend approval;



NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the City

of Texarkana, Arkansas, that Solid Waste Residential Rate paid to residential Hauling

Contractors as set forth above effective J anuary 1, 2022, is approved and, further, that the

mechanism and formula for further adjustment on January 1, 2023, described above for

any Hauler Contractors so qualifying for such increase pursuant to the terms described

above, is approved.

PASSED AND APPROVED this day of December, 2021.

Gmb)
Allen L. Brown, Mayor

ATTEST:

Heather

APPRO D:

Georg atteson, City Attorney











RESOLUTION NO.

WHEREAS, the existing Refuse Collection Contracts with Richardson Waste 11,

1110.. Waste Management ofTexas, and Trash Service are all set to expire

on September 30, 2016; and

WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Management Committee met on June 8, 2016, and 

again, in conjunction with a workshop of the entire Board of Directors, on June 13, 2016,

and recommended that said contracts be extended for an additional seven years

(beginning October 1, 2016, and ending September 30, 2023);

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the

City of Texarkana. Arkansas, that the City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to 

offer to each of Richardson Waste [1, Inc., Waste Management of Texas and 

Trash Service a seven year extension of their respective Refuse Collection

Contracts; provided, however, that in order for such extension to be the hauler

must sign and return, without or counteroffer, the written offer of extension

provided by the City Manager on 01' before September 30, 2016; otherwise, any

extended contract will expire by its terms.

PASSED AND APPROVED this ofJuly,201g/7 xv

/
.

\
A

_

ATTEST:

Cit Clerk



APPROVED:

47%:
Georgfyl. Matteson, City Attorney



July 18, 2016

Richardson Waste 11, Inc.

Rickey RichaIdson, Owner

4841 East Street

Texarkana, AR 71854

RE: Refuse Collection Contract dated September 2, 2009, by and between

the City ofTexarkcma, Arkansas, and Richardson Waste 11, Inc.

Dear Richardson Waste 11, Inc.:

In accordance with the Resolution No. 2016-50, 1 am authorized to offer an extension of

the referenced Contract, on its current terms and conditions, for a period of seven (7) years

beginning October 1, 2016, through September 30, 2023. If you would like to extend this

contract, please have an authorized person sign in the space below and return to me. Please be

advised that I must be in receipt of your return on or before the on September

30, 2016 (See enclosed Resolution No. 2016-50).

Thank you for your attention in this matter.

Sincerely,

Doctor askins

AGREED AND ACCEPTED:

RICHARDSON WASTE II, INC.

By: QQ {Q&T
Name: W N
Title: awwe'R

Date: 5 4/2. 4 2.016



RESOLUTION NO.

WHEREAS, the existing Refuse Collection Contracts with Richardson Waste 11,

1110., Waste Management of Texas, and Trash Service are 2111 set to expire

on September 30, 2016; and

WHEREAS, the Solid Waste Management Committee met on June 8, 2016, and

again, in conjunction with a workshop of the entire Board of Directors, on June 13, 2016,

and recommended that said contracts be extended for an additional seven years

(beginning October 1, 2016, and ending September 30, 2023);

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the City Manager is hereby authorized and directed to

offer to each of Richardson Waste 11, Inc., Waste Management of Texas and

Trash Service a seven year extension of their respective Refuse Collection

Contracts; provided, however, that in order for such extension to be binding, the hauler

must sign and return, without or counteroffer, the written offer of extension

provided by the City Manager on 01' before September 30, 2016; otherwise, any non-

extended contract will expire by its terms.

PASSED AND APPROVED this d y ofJuly,

ATTEST:

Heather oyar , City Clerk



APPROVED:

47%
Georgzy. Matteson, City Attorney



REFUSE COLLECTION CONTRACT

The City of Texarkana, Arkansas, called acting herein by and through

its duly authorized City Manager, and Richardson Waste 11, Inc., hereinafter called 

for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, do hereby

agree as follows:

(1) Contractor hereby agrees to collect trash and refuse as set forth in this 

contract in the territory allocated to Contractor as set forth in the map attached hereto and made a 

part hereof.

(2) Services under this contract shall include single family, duplex, and multi- 

family units. The City Manager of the City shall be the authority in all questions,

complaints, or problems encountered regarding service delivery under this contract.

(3) The term of the contract shall be seven (7) years. The contract shall be

effective October 1, 2009, through September 30, 2016.

(4) The City reserves the right to cancel this contract for any reason and at its 

sole discretion with ninety (90) days written notice. If Contractor is unable or does not provide 

services in accordance with the terms of this contract or for violations of law, the City reserves

the right to cancel the contract immediately.

(5) The monthly service charge per residential unit shall be $8.96.

(6) The City, at its sole discretion, may receive and consider Contractor requests 

for service rate increases under this contract. Rate increase requests will not be considered for

the first year of this contract. In contract years 2-7, rate increase requests may be received and

considered only if in the of the City Manager during the month of October for

possible consideration during the month of November to be effective J anuary 1.

(7) Contractor may written rate increase requests at any time for costs

related to changes in state or federal rules or regulations governing solid waste disposal.

Increases in service costs for any other reason, including changes in state or federal minimum

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 1 of 6



wage requirements, will not be considered herein except in accordance with the provisions of

paragraph number 6 above. Rate increase requests under this section are not automatic, as to 

either consideration or approval, and are at the sole discretion of and require the approval of the

City.

(8) All waste collected under this contract shall be disposed of as specified by 

the City. The City reserves the right for the City Manager to change the location to which waste 

is transported and disposed of at any time with thirty (30) days written notice. Residential

garbage is currently transported to and disposed of in accordance with the disposal

contract with Western Waste Industries utilizing the New Boston Yard waste is

transported to and disposed of at either the City Compost Site at the South Regional Wastewater

Treatment Facility, the New Boston or other locations as by the City

Manager. Contractor shall pay all costs related to the collection and transportation of said waste

to the disposal sites, including but not limited to operating costs, insurance

coverages, and local, state, or federal regulatory or other related fees and charges. Contractor

shall be responsible for any and all fees, and/or penalties due or assessed against

Contractor during the term of this contract. Failure to maintain required permits necessary to

transport waste from the City to the disposal site as well as failure by Contractor to pay any and 

all fees, and penalties due or assessed against Contractor during the term of this contract 

shall be grounds for immediate contract termination. 

(9) Regular residential garbage shall be collected a minimum of two (2) times 

per week, with collections on either Monday and Thursday or Tuesday and Friday. Services in 

residential neighborhoods shall not begin before 5:00 am. and shall not be continued past 7:00

pm. daily, Monday through Friday. Service day or time changes require the written approval of

the City Manager at least sixty (60) days in advance. Contractor is responsible for the payment 

of 100% of the costs necessary to provide notice to City residents of the service day and/or time

changes. In addition, Contractor shall provide without charge to each of its pick-up customers a

magnetic strip on which name, mailing address, and telephone number shall be

printed together with the collection days for such customers. Contractor shall collect garbage at

the curb, edge of the street or at locations granted by exceptions Upon application

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 2 of 6



to the City Manager, exceptions can be granted to such collection points for customers with 

disabilities. Contractor will retrieve the container from such location and return the container 

there after it has been emptied. Any dispute related to service frequency or location shall be

determined by the City Manager, who is the authority regarding said mattert

(10) Yard waste shall be collected one time per week on Wednesday. Service

time restrictions and collection point locations are as in number 9 above.

(ll) Multi-family apartment owners whose multi-family residences at a single 

location exceed eight (8) shall have the option to use container (commercial dumpster) pickup on

the same frequency as residential garbage. Contractor shall provide containers of a volume

agreeable to Contractor and the owner at no additional cost above the contract standard

residential rate per unit. The City Manager shall have authority to settle any dispute 

between Contractor and the apartment owner regarding container volume or frequency of service 

provided. If normal refuse usage requires the hauler to collect refuse at a frequency greater than 

twice per week, such pick up is considered subsidiary to the normal service and provided at no 

additional cost to owner and city. Should the apartment owner wish special pickups or container 

volume for apartment cleanup or other purposes, it shall be supplied at the City-approved 

commercial rate per dumpster with no other fees, including rentals or insurance charges, added. 

Contractor shall report all requests for additional service to the City within seven (7) day of 

initiation, with the cost for services billed and collected by the City. Contractor is responsible 

for insuring that all charges for services provided under this contract are billed by the City.

Container (commercial dumpster) service delivery at applicable multi-family apanment 

complexes may be contracted with the written approval of the City Manager, with the cost for

services billed and collected by the City. Failure to fully comply with all terms as to service 

provision and City billing and collection requirements shall be grounds for immediate contract 

termination at the sole discretion of the City.

(12) Garbage shall be placed in watertight containers weighing, when full, not in

excess of 50 pounds and having a lid or cover and handles for easy lifting. Said containers shall 

be free of holes in or near the base or bottom and may be galvanized metal or plastic as

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 3 of 6



determined by the City Manager. Yard waste shall be neatly bundled or placed in disposable

paper or plastic bags.

(13) Contractor shall provide liability insurance coverage for all of its vehicles 

and equipment as required by state laws. Said coverage shall name the City as an additional

named insured in said policies. Contractor shall provide compensation coverage as

required by state law. Proof of such coverages must be provided to the City annually on or

before January 1.

(14) Contractor shall operate and provide all services under this contract in 

conformance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, rules, or regulations, including 

wage and hour requirements. Failure to comply with this provision shall be grounds for

immediate contract termination at the sole discretion.

(15) Contractor agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless for any

and all claims, losses, and/or damages made or incurred while providing services under this

contract. Contractor will be required to execute formal and hold harmless

agreements as the City may require from time to time.

(16) All service fees provided under this contract must be billed and collected by

the City. It is responsibility to insure that the City has a accounting of all units

served and that all services are provided in accordance with this contract or the City Code 

rates for refuse services. Additional charges, including those for rentals and insurance,

shall not be permitted.

(17) All books and records of Contractor must be made available for the 

review annually during the audit process. Said audit and review requirements shall be applicable

for all records related to the provision of services under this contract Contractor will be required

to document compliance with all applicable local, state, and federal rules, laws, or regulations

during the audit process. Failure of Contractor to comply with this section shall be grounds for

immediate contract termination at the sole discretion of the City.

(18) Contractor shall follow all local and state and transportation laws and

regulations in the course of providing services under this contract. Contractor shall transport all

waste for disposal in a timely manner. Contractor shall safely operate equipment and motor

Refuse Collection Cantract

Page 4 of 6



vehicles so that the streets and drives of the City are not damaged in any way. Contractor is

liable for any and all damages to City streets or drives that occur in the course of the

terms of this contract. In the event of a dispute under this section, the City Manager shall be the

authority

(19) Contractor shall provide, free of charge, containers (commercial dumpster)

as by the City Manager at various and operated facilities and dispose of all

waste at said facilities the same as provided for all residential customers. Regular collection and

disposal services shall be provided free of charge for services needed at City facilities on a door-

to-door basis as by the City Manager.

(20) All City Code provisions are considered patt of this contract as if stated 

verbatim herein.

(21) Contractor agrees to pay all applicable income, property, occupation, and

vehicle taxes on its business and equipment and to comply with all licensing requirements of the 

State of Arkansas and the Southwest Arkansas Regional Solid Waste Management Board.

(22) Contractor agrees that the equipment used in the collection and removal of

shall be safe and so constructed as to retain all garbage, including wet garbage, and shall

be covered so as to prevent any garbage or refuse from falling into the streets and drives.

(23) City agrees not to enter into any agreements with other pazties during the

term of this contract for the collection of residential trash and refuse over route as

in the exhibit attached hereto so long as Contractor provides adequate service.

Contractor agrees not to engage in the business of refuse collection from residential units in the

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, except in its designated area. Collector acknowledges that the City 

Manager will be chaxged with the administration of the garbage and refuse program and this

contract. Contractor agrees to meet with the City Manager upon his request to discuss

complaints and operational problems and to conform to reasonable requests regarding said

operational problems. Contractor shall designate a person and phone number for contact on a

day-to-day basis and will insure that said phone is answered at all times during normal business

hours. name and phone number shall be shown on all equipment used in operation

of this contract.

Refuse Collection Camract

Page 5 of 6



(24) In the event the City annem additional land contiguous to that land

allocated Contractor, it shall be the duty of said Contractor, if requested by the City to do so, to

provide collection to the annexed land upon the terms and conditions as set forth in this

contract within thirty (30) days after the annexation becomes

(25) This contract and any and all rights and obligations hereunder may be

assigned by only with the prior written consent of the City.

A

EXECUTED ORIGINALS this day of ,2009.

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS

By; my
H 1d E. Boldt

City Manager
A'I'I'EST:

y, City Secretary

Wc-

By: 09.4.9 IQ; w
Run;

Collection Contract

Page 6 of 6



8L VA

||

ELLSVM

NOSGHVHOIH
8L

ll

ELSVM

NOSGHVHOIH
VL

EOIAEIEIS
HSVHJ.

NOSGNOWGEI

EIOIAHES
HSVHL

NOSCINOWGE

IHd

SEFLL

SHnHJ.

NOW

[EH

SEan.

SHnHJ.

NOW

\

\~~\

LL9L-08Z [.LQL'OBZ
(906)

GZVL-ESLL
(0L8)

ezw-eu
(0L8)

aIms SBSUUEIJV' eumpexeL'L
30

A110

W: u

,,/

\_,\

Hurrah
'5

||7|l"

x...m
w

.mV-i

h.

u|.u:.
f

.1 rnng'W; .r'hW .. . I \ r 5M . n x i - i'xWxr"



,L,

Wm:

17W?" AT
"

L

w:

11:1

5]

semi

108111103
esnpu

~s

mm m

| U

m.

Smnrlsun ln

u-nunu
Mm

um u 1

.n

Mum

II

9159Muosplpqoltl
A.

,

m

M,
"M

hm;



July 18, 2016

Edmondson Trash Sewicc

Terry Tussey Owner

4518 Blackman Ferry Rd.

Texarkana, AR 71854

RE: Refuse Collection Contract dated August 25, 2009, by and between the

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, and Edmondson Trash Service as

supplemented by Supplemental A greemem and Amendment 

Collection Contract dated January 7, 2013(collectively, the ")

Dear Edmondson Trash Service:

In accordance with the Resolution No. 2016-50, 1 am authorized to offer an extension of

the referenced Contract, on its current terms and conditions, for a period of seven (7) years

beginning October 1, 2016, through September 30, 2023. If you would like to extend this 

Contract, please have an authorized person sign in the space below and return to me. Please be

advised that I must be in receipt of your return on or before the on September
30, 2016 (See enclosed Resolution NO.

Thank you for your attention in this matter.

Sincerely,

Wskins
AGREED AND ACCEPTED:

EDMONDSON TRASH SERVICE

By: :f 12 2/
Name: 77320344 1Title:

Date: M__._i



REFUSE COLLECTION CONTRACT

The City of Texarkana, Arkansas, hereinafter called acting herein by and through 

its duly authorized City Manager, and Edmondson Trash Service, hereinafter called

for and in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements herein contained, 

do hereby agree as follows:

(1) Contractor hereby agrees to collect trash and refuse as set forth in this 

contract in the territory allocated to Contractor as set forth in the map attached hereto and made a

part hereof.

(2) Services under this contract shall include single family, duplex, and multi-

family units. The City Manager of the City shall be the authority in all questions, 

complaints, or problems encountered regarding service delivery under this contract.

(3) The term of the contract shall be seven (7) years. The contact shall be

effective October 1 2009, through September 30, 2016.

(4) The City reserves the right to cancel this contract for any reason and at its

sole discretion with ninety (90) days written notice. If Contractor is unable or does not provide 

services in accordance with the terms of this contract or for violations of law, the City reserves

the right to cancel the contract immediately.

(5) The monthly service charge per residential unit shall be $8.96.

(6) The City, at its sole discretion, may receive and consider Contractor requests

for service rate increases under this contract. Rate increase requests will not be considered for 

the year of this contract. In contract years 2-7, rate increase requests may be received and

considered only if in the of the City Manager during the month of October for

possible consideration during the month of November to be effective January 1.

(7) Contractor may written rate increase requests at any time for costs

related to changes in state or federal rules or regulations governing solid waste disposal.

Increases in service costs for any other reason, including changes in state or federal minimum

Refuse Collection Contract

Page I of 6



wage requirements, will not be considered herein except in accordance with the provisions of 

paragraph number 6 above. Rate increase requests under this section are not automatic, as to 

either consideration or approval, and are at the sole discretion of and require the approval of the

City.

(8) A11 waste collected under this contract shall be disposed of as by

the City. The City reserves the right for the City Manager to change the location to which waste

is transported and disposed of at any time with thirty (30) days written notice. Residential

garbage is currently transported to and disposed of in accordance with the disposal

contract with Western Waste Industries utilizing the New Boston Yard waste is

transported to and disposed of at either the City Compost Site at the South Regional Wastewater

Treatment Facility, the New Boston or other locations as by the City

Manager. Contractor shall pay all costs related to the collection and transportation of said waste

to the disposal sites, including but not limited to operating costs, insurance

coverages, and local, state, or federal regulatory or other related fees and charges. Contractor

shall be responsible for any and all fees, and/or penalties due or assessed against

Contractor during the term of this contract. Failure to maintain required permits necessary to 

transport waste from the City to the disposal site as well as failure by Contractor to pay any and 

all fees, and penalties due or assessed against Contractor during the term of this contract

shall be grounds for immediate contract termination. 

(9) Regular residential garbage shall be collected a minimum of two (2) times

per week, with collections on either Monday and Thursday or Tuesday and Friday. Services in

residential neighborhoods shall not begin before 5:00 am. and shall not be continued past 7:00

pm. daily, Monday through Friday. Service day or time changes require the written approval of 

the City Manager at least sixty (60) days in advance. Contractor is responsible for the payment

of 100% of the costs necessary to provide notice to City residents of the service day and/or time 

changes. In addition, Contractor shall provide without charge to each of its pick-up customers a

magnetic strip on which name, mailing address, and telephone number shall be

printed together with the collection days for such customers. Contractor shall collect garbage at

the cuxb, edge of the street right-of-way, or at locations granted by exceptions. Upon application

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 2 of 6



to the City Manager, exceptions can be granted to such collection points for customers with

disabilities. Contractor will retrieve the container from such location and return the container

there it has been emptied. Any dispute related to service frequency or location shall be

determined by the City Manager, who is the authority regarding said matter.

(10) Yard waste shall be collected one time per week on Wednesday. Service

time restrictions and collection point locations are as in number 9 above.

(11) Multi-family apartment owners whose multi-family residences at a single

location exceed eight (8) shall have the option to use container (commercial dumpster) pickup on

the same frequency as residential garbage. Contractor shall provide containers of a volume

agreeable to Contractor and the owner at no additional cost above the contract standard

residential rate per unit. The City Manager shall have authority to settle any dispute

between Contractor and the apartment owner regarding container volume or frequency of service

provided. If normal refuse usage requires the hauler to collect refuse at a frequency greater than

twice per week, such pick up is considered subsidiary to the normal service and provided at no 

additional cost to owner and city. Should the apartment owner wish special pickups or container 

volume for apartment cleanup or other purposes, it shall be supplied at the

commercial rate per dumpster with no other fees, including rentals or insurance charges, added. 

Contractor shall report all requests for additional service to the City within seven (7) day of 

initiation, with the cost for services billed and collected by the City. Contractor is responsible

for insuring that all charges for services provided under this contract are billed by the City.

Container (commercial dumpster) service delivery at applicable multi-family apartment

complexes may be contracted with the written approval of the City Manager, with the cost for

services billed and collected by the City. Failure to fully comply with all terms as to service 

provision and City billing and collection requirements shall be grounds for immediate contract 

termination at the sole discretion of the City.

(12) Garbage shall be placed in watertight containers weighing, when full, not in

excess of 50 pounds and having a lid or cover and handles for easy lifting. Said containers shall 

be free of holes in or near the base or bottom and may be galvanized metal or plastic as

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 3 of 6



determined by the City Manager. Yard waste shall be neatly bundled or placed in disposable 

paper or plastic bags.

(13) Contractor shall provide liability insurance coverage for all of its vehicles 

and equipment as required by state laws. Said coverage shall name the City as an additional

named insured in said policies. Contractor shall provide compensation coverage as

required by state law. Proof of such coverages must be provided to the City annually on or

before 121nm 1.

(14) Contractor shall operate and provide all services under this contract in 

conformance with all applicable local, state, and federal laws, rules, or regulations, including

wage and hour requirements. Failure to comply with this provision shall be grounds for

immediate contract termination at the sole discretion.

(15) Contractor funher agrees to indemnify and hold the City harmless for any 

and all claims, losses, and/or damages made or incurred while providing services under this

contract. Contractor will be required to execute formal and hold harmless

agreements as the City may require from time to time.

(16) All service fees provided under this contract must be billed and collected by

the City. It is responsibility to insure that the City has a full accounting of all units

served and that all services are provided in accordance with this contract or the City Code

rates for refuse services. Additional charges, including those for rentals and insurance,

shall not be permitted.

(17) All books and records of Contractor must be made available for the 

review annually during the audit process. Said audit and review requirements shall be applicable 

for all records related to the provision of services under this contract. Contractor will be required

to document compliance with all applicable local, state, and federal rules, laws, or regulations

during the audit process. Failure of Contractor to comply with this section shall be grounds for

immediate contract termination at the sole discretion of the City.

(18) Contractor shall follow all local and state and transportation laws and 

regulations in the course of providing services under this contract. Contractor shall transport all

waste for disposal in a timely manner. Contractor shall safely operate equipment and motor

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 4 of 6



vehicles so that the streets and drives of the City are not damaged in any way. Contractor is

liable for any and all damages to City streets or drives that occur in the course of the

terms of this contract. In the event of a dispute under this section, the City Manager shall be the

authority.

(19) Contractor shall provide, free of charge, containers (commercial dumpster)

as by the City Manager at various and operated facilities and dispose of all

waste at said facilities the same as provided for all residential customers. Regulax collection and

disposal services shall be provided free of charge for services needed at City facilities on a door-

to-door basis as by the City Manager.

(20) All City Code provisions are considered part of this contract as if stated

verbatim herein.

(21) Contractor agrees to pay all applicable income, property, occupation, and 

vehicle taxes on its business and equipment and to comply with all licensing requirements of the

State of Arkansas and the Southwest Arkansas Regional Solid Waste Management Board.

(22) Contractor agrees that the equipment used in the collection and removal of

refuse shall be safe and so constructed as to retain all garbage, including wet garbage, and shall

be covered so as to prevent any garbage or refuse from falling into the streets and drives.

(23) City agrees not to enter into any agreements with other parties dun'ng the

term of this contract for the collection of residential trash and refuse over route as

in the exhibit attached hereto so long as Contractor provides adequate service. 

Contractor agrees not to engage in the business of refuse collection from residential units in the

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, except in its designated area. Collector acknowledges that the City

Manager will be charged with the administration of the garbage and refuse program and this 

contract. Contractor agrees to meet with the City Manager upon his request to discuss

complaints and operational problems and to conform to reasonable requests regarding said

operational problems. Contractor shall designate a person and phone number for contact on a

day-to-day basis and will insure that said phone is answered at all times during nonnal business

hours. name and phone number shall be shown on all equipment used in operation

of this contract.

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 5 0f 6



(24) In the event the City annexes additional land contiguous to that land

allocated Contractor, it shall be the duty of said Contractor, if requested by the City to do so, to

provide refuse collection to the annexed land upon the terms and conditions as set forth in this

contract within thiny (30) days the axmexation becomes

(25) This contract and any and all rights and obligations hereunder may be

assigned by Contractor only with the prior written consent of the

44; r

EXECUTED ORIGINALS this 45 ' 

day of ,2009.

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS

*{ww Wk
Harold E. Boldt

City Manager

ATTEST:

Patti Scott Grey, City Secretary

/ /

By: /
Edmonds n Trash Servic

Refuse Collection Contract

Page 6 of 6



SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT AND
'15

AMENDMENT OF REFUSE COLLECTION CONTRACT 

Edmondson Trash Service

STATE OF ARKANSAS )

COUNTY OF MILLER )

THIS agreement is by and between the City of Texarkana, Arkansas and 

Edmondson Trash Service hereinafter known as Contractor, with principal
located in Texarkana, Arkansas.

WHEREAS, the City and Contractor have entered into an agreement such that the 

Contractor is to provide the following Trash Services: Refuse Collection Contract.

WHEREAS, the above referenced agreement Item No. 8 provides that the

Contractor shall dispose of garbage with Western Waste Industries New Boston 

according to the Contract the City has with Western Waste Industries; and

WHEREAS, the Contract with Western Waste Industries Item No. 6 provides that 

residential waste shall be disposed of at no cost to the residential refuse collector; and

WHEREAS, the current weekly residential refuse collected for the City of

Texarkana is approximately (45) pounds per week in 2012 and Edmondson

Trash Service has one hundred and eighty-nine (189) customers amounting to 

approximately four and one quarter (4 %) tons per week; and

WHEREAS, the year1y average of (45) pounds per week shall be

adjusted each year based on the average of Waste Management and Richardson Waste 11,

Inc.; and

WHEREAS, the Refuse Collection Contract Item No. 18 provides the Contractor 

shall transport all waste for disposal in a timely manner and the Contractor states the 

amount of garbage collected on Monday does not half of his truck and he stores the

material until the Thursday collection using watering to keep the smell down; and

WHEREAS, the Contractor desires to mix his commercial garbage with the

residential garbage to allow him to transport the material in a timely manner; and

WHEREAS, the Contractor agrees to have the amount of garbage above the

agreed upon four and one quarter (4 %) tons charged to him by Western Waste Industries;

and

WHEREAS, the City agrees to pay for four and one qualter (4 %) tons of garbage

disposal per week and make adjustments based on the average pounds per week yearly;

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual acts and covenants

set out herein, the parties agree as follows:



SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT AND

AMENDMENT OF REFUSE COLLECTION CONTRACT

Edmondson Trash Service

Contractor shall pay Western Waste Industries for any additional tonnage above

the agreed upon four and one quarter (4 V4) tons per week. The City shall pay

Western Waste Industries for four and one quarter (4 1/1) tons per week.

Additionally, the Commercial rate is subject to Contractor negotiating with

Western Waste Industries in accordance with the Contract Item 7

which states: refuse haulers will be charged a fee by Contractor for

disposal of waste at Either party can cancel this agreement

by providing a 30 day written notice.

t ) ~

Signed and effective on this the 
7 

day of
, 

KO )3)

CITY OF TEXARKANA, ARKANSAS

imam (3w:-

Printed Name: Harold Boldt

Title: City Manager

ATTEST:

APPROVED AS FORM:

CITY ATTORNEY

Edmondson Trash Service, CONTRACTOR

.._/

1/ LW
/ _/

Title:M_e_,L____

Attachments: Refuse Collection Contract Edmondson, Landill Contract & Amendment

By: ///7

File: G:\Department Files\Public Works\Refuse\Contracts\Refuse

Contracts\Supp1emental Agreement - Hauler Contract - Edmundson Wastedoc



RESOLUTION NO. 5% 4

WHEREAS, the Public Works Department has requested that the City enter into 

a supplemental agreement with Edmondson Trash Service to establish a set tonnage of

four and one-quartet tons to be paid weekly by the City to Western Waste Industries for 

charges of residential waste associated with Edmonson Trash Service and to 

allow Edmondson Trash Service to mix its commercial garbage with its residential

garbage to alleviate the negative impact to both the City and Edmondson Trash Service;

and

WHEREAS, the City Manager and Staff recommend approval; and

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of the

City of Texarkana, Arkansas, that the City Manager is authorized and directed to execute

a supplemental agreement with Edmondson Trash Service as set forth above. 

PASSED AND APPROVED this 7th day of January, 2013.

R
N. Way Smith, Mayor

ATTEST:

Patti Scott Grey, City 
Ole;

APPROVED:



31mg

EOIAHES
HSVHJ.

NOSGNOINGE
8L

IEH

SEan.

SHHHJ.

NOW

LLQL'OBZ
(206)

1.1.9
L-OSZ ezw-eu

(0L8)

ezw-su
(0L8)

du
W

as-npu

EOIAHES
HSWL

NOSGNOINCE!
Vt

ll

ELLSVM

NOSGHVHOIH
8L

||

ELSVM

NOSGHVHOIH
VL

IEH

83m

SHnHl

NOW

Bumpmxei
JO

A110

\9

9

99
$9

.

9%9

(LdVW



,.,

I
> -. E ,.

Pmsnn m

mm. m
..,

W... aouues useu uosuowpa
mum m

5mm m

sanderxw Lnwww-
0m 5| nahm o,

6'
a

2- mew Dr 

m 5mm Rd

mm
x

Wu, H mm:

mm 5|

n

n-wnm

mum" Feny I z

1;

Wm},
a.

m. m
-.,

,
.7.

!J:I

Sam

qsz

m."
"N

"ms

SLOZ

:oenuoo
esnpu



 

 

August 21, 2023 

 

 

Richardson Waste II, Inc. 

Rickey Richardson, Owner 

4841 East Street 

Texarkana, AR 71854 

 

 

RE: Refuse Collection Contract dated September 2, 2009, and extension dated 

July 18, 2016, by and between the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, and 

Richardson Waste II, Inc. (“the Contract”) 

 

Dear Richardson Waste II, Inc.: 

  

 In accordance with the Resolution No. 2023-___, I am authorized to offer an extension of 

the referenced Contract, on its current terms and conditions, for a period of five (5) years 

beginning October 1, 2023, through September 30, 2028.  If you would like to extend this 

contract, please have an authorized person sign in the space below and return to me.  Please be 

advised that I must be in receipt of your return on or before the close-of-business on September 

29, 2023 (See enclosed Resolution No. 2023-__).  

 

 Thank you for your attention in this matter.   

 

 Sincerely,  

 

 

 

 TyRhonda Henderson 

 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED:  

 

 

 

RICHARDSON WASTE II, INC.  

 

 

 

By:  _____________________________ 

 

Name: ____________________________ 

 

Title: _____________________________ 

 

Date: _____________________________ 



 

 

August 21, 2023 

 

 

Edmondson Trash Service 

Terry Tussey – Owner  

4518 Blackman Ferry Rd. 

Texarkana, AR 71854 

 

 

RE: Refuse Collection Contract dated September 2, 2009, and extension dated 

July 18, 2016, by and between the City of Texarkana, Arkansas, and 

Edmondson Trash Service. (“the Contract”) 

 

Dear Edmondson Trash Service: 

  

 In accordance with the Resolution No. 2023-___, I am authorized to offer an extension of 

the referenced Contract, on its current terms and conditions, for a period of five (5) years 

beginning October 1, 2023, through September 30, 2028.  If you would like to extend this 

contract, please have an authorized person sign in the space below and return to me.  Please be 

advised that I must be in receipt of your return on or before the close-of-business on September 

29, 2023 (See enclosed Resolution No. 2023-__).   

 

 Thank you for your attention in this matter.   

 

 Sincerely,  

 

 

 

 TyRhonda Henderson 

 

AGREED AND ACCEPTED:  

 

 

 

EDMONDSON TRASH SERVICE  

 

 

 

By:  _____________________________ 

 

Name: ____________________________ 

 

Title: _____________________________ 

 

Date: _____________________________ 


	Top
	1.	life saving award
	2.	service awards
	item_09052023_ccd_employee service awards

	3.	minutes
	item_09052023_ccd_minutes
	item_3_08212023_special called minutes
	item_3_08212023_minutes

	4.	Airport ARPA funds
	item_4_09052023_fin_Airport Reimbursement from ARPA Funds
	Item 4 Airport Reimbursement
	item_09052023_fin_Airport  Lot PR 1
	item_09052023_fin_Airport Lot PR 2

	5.	BOD travel
	item_7_09052023_fin_BOD travel
	Item 7 Repeal of Res
	item_09052023_fin_Resolution No. 6254

	6.	construction contract with Francis Excavating LLC for County Avenue Rehabilitation Project.
	item_5_09052023_pwd_County Avenue Agenda
	Item 5 County Ave Rehab 
	Bid Recommendation
	Bid Sign-In
	Francis Bid

	7.	Extending the Existing Solid Waste Contract
	item_6_09052023_pwd_Extend Existing Solid Waste Contract
	Item 6 Refuse Collection Renewal
	2021-62 - Hauler Increas & CPI Annual Increase
	36-2022
	2016-50 - Original Contract Extension
	Draft Extension Letters

	Bottom

